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Betty Tilley, Pat Faudry, Mrs. Robert K. Williams

[0:00:00]

Betty Tilley:
 Got it ready?

Pat Faudry:
No.  It’s still taking the lead – this is Pat Faudry and Betty Tilley on April 17th, and with Mrs. Robert K. Williams at 206 Stonewall in Memphis.  This is part of a project sponsored by Metropolitan Interfaith Association through a grant from Tennessee Committee for the Humanities.  


When was the house – what’s the history of the house?

Mrs. R. Williams:
The house was built probably during 1909 because the family moved in on June 10th, 1910.  So it had to be under construction, and my grandmother was living with her family on what was then Rayburn.  It’s now South Third Street, back of the then Union Station which is now the Post Office. 


The house was taken for Union Station which has since been taken by the Post office.

Pat Faudry:
Oh.  

Betty Tilley:
Thank you.

Mrs. R. Williams:
And as a result of that move, she was looking in the general midtown area over on the central – off Central off – in ____ Stonewall which was opening up at that time.

[0:01:04.9]


And the house was built – Robert may know the builder.  I'm not sure.  He was not – it was not an architect.  He was a contractor, and he also was building the house – the Neuberger home  which is at Parkway and Union which is now somebody’s theological seminary because the fireplace in here was originally intended – as I understand it – for that house, and somehow or another, they didn’t use it.  So.

Pat Faudry:
Oh.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Our fireplace – so I always heard – was originally intended for the New Berger home.  

Pat Faudry:
Makes a nice story.

Mrs. R. Williams:
And – uh-huh.  And so that was when they moved in.  Now, there may have been some – there were, I'm sure, other houses to the north.  I know the two houses to the south were not here because they had a tennis court rolled, and everybody sat on the side porch and played tennis or watched the tennis until Mother said, eventually –

[0:02:01.9]


So many friends of friends of friends were playing that, pretty soon, there was no one they knew playing, but for awhile, they did have those two as a tennis court.  


So I feel that those had to come in possibly a year or so later, but there were other houses – a few others up north on Stonewall.  At that time, this – it’s named – if you know – if you check the map, the little street that was – is now the end of Stonewall between Poplar and Court was not Stonewall at the time.  It was Garland.  No, it was a place – Grandville Place.  It used to still be in the sidewalk with blue and white tiles.  

Pat Faudry:
Oh.

Mrs. R. Williams:
I would doubt if it’s still there because them sidewalks have been battered.  

Pat Faudry:
Yes.

Betty Tilley:
Yeah.

Mrs. R. Williams:
But the Stonewall –

[Crosstalk]

Pat Faudry:
Notebook with me.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Yeah.  Stonewall Place started here and went up to the Parkway and then had the stone wall – brick – you know, the entry walls are on Poplar and on Parkway.

[0:03:01.3]
Pat Faudry:
Yeah, I know.

Mrs. R. Williams:
So this is Stonewall Place, and the rest – at least, there are some of us who still hold to that.  I mean I always put my address – except when I just give up – as Stonewall Place.  The rest of Stonewall is just Stonewall.  

Betty Tilley:

Oh.

Mrs. R. Williams:
One hangs onto a few things.

Pat Faudry:

Yeah.  Now tell me the difference.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Well, this was what was opened up as Stonewall Place from Poplar to Overton Park, and Miss Mannigan – Mrs. TP Mannigan across the street has one of the early brochures from the opening of the street.  You might want to see that.


I think we have a –

Pat Faudry:
Oh.

Mrs. R. Williams:
She let us make a Xerox out of it.

Pat Faudry:
Yes.

Mrs. R. Williams:
But she has the original, and you might want to talk to her.

Pat Faudry:
Yeah.

Mrs. R. Williams:
That showed the originals.

Pat Faudry:
But do you know who opened it up as a subdivision or for sale or whatever?

Mrs. R. Williams:
It’s on that – hold on just a second.  I believe she built this duplex from the corner.  It’s my understanding that she did.

[0:03:59.7]

Pat Faudry:
Were there - you mentioned that there were a few house farther north.  Did you mean still on Stonewall Place or on past –

Mrs. R. Williams:
Yeah, yeah.  I meant like the house across the street that’s now owned by Dr. Foner which was previously Dr.  Mitchell’s was, I believe – I’d have to check, but at least I know it was lived in and I think built by Stony Montgomery whose big house was where William R. Morris School is up in Montgomery in Poplar.  

He was quite wealthy and then I think lost some of his money.  It’s my understanding this was his small house after the big one went.

Pat Faudry:
Is that Elliot ___ that was over?

Mrs. R. Williams:
Yeah, they moved from –

[Crosstalk]

Mrs. R. Williams:
Yeah, they used to live on this side of the street further up and recently bought that and moved.
Pat Faudry:
Oh.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Which is real nice to have family with children.  The Mitchells did not have small – younger children. [Cut 0:04:56]
Pat Faudry:
Yeah, yeah.

Mrs. R. Williams:
But I believe that one was by – and now the picture taken early here shows a couple of the houses just north of us.

[0:05:04.0]

Pat Faudry:
Yeah.  When – what were the city services like during – at that time in 1909?  What were the streets like for instance?

Mrs. R. Williams:
I may look it, but I wasn’t here then.  

Pat Faudry:
I was just –

Mrs. R. Williams:
Actually, I think they must have been paved this far.  I think they were – you know – I think because –

Pat Faudry:
With that much developed ground, I would assume so, but I just wasn’t sure.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Well, because everybody had driveways except us.  We came in from the alley.  So we do not have a driveway.

Betty Tilley:
Oh, I didn’t notice that.

Pat Faudry:
I didn’t either.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Either Grandmother didn’t think cars were here to stay or something.

Pat Faudry:

Didn’t approve of them or something, huh?  

Mrs. R. Williams:
But our entry – our drive entrance is from – well, we call it the alley.  The city calls it – it is a dedicated street – Williamson.

Pat Faudry:
Oh.

Mrs. R. Williams:
And then there’s a little hidden park back by Williamson Park.

Pat Faudry:
Yeah.

Mrs. R. Williams:
That does not – it stops this side of the – well, what was originally the house facing Poplar.

[0:05:59.9]


And then it only goes to Peach.

Pat Faudry:
Yeah.

Mrs. R. Williams:
And does not go through to Overton Park, and it’s mine understanding that, when Willette was opened up – and I know there are two that it’s pronounced both Willette and Willette in spite of the fact that I just read that all the old timers say Willette.  We always say Willette.

Pat Faudry:
Oh.

Mrs. R. Williams:
So but then maybe we never pronounced Willette, but that left a piece of land in ____ that didn’t make the lights deep enough.  I mean they would have been overly deep.  So it’s my understanding that they asked the neighborhood – the two streets probably – if they wanted to have – 


Well, in those days, they built servants’ houses in close.  You didn’t have them way away.  They had to get to work somehow.  So the question was whether to have like small servants’ houses built through the ___ park in the neighborhood before the park.  

It was my understanding gave the first equipment – playground equipment.

[0:07:02.2]
Mrs. R. Williams:
There were eventually servants’ houses or just colored housing down on Peach end which were torn out for the expressway. 

Pat Faudry:
That’s interesting.  

Mrs. R. Williams:
But most of the houses – now I don't know about Willette.  Most of the houses along here had their own servants’ houses.

Pat Faudry:
In the back.

Mrs. R. Williams:
We did.  Tore it down and had a carport built back there but we did.

Pat Faudry:
So, essentially, you just sort of grew up in this house.  I mean it’s a –

Mrs. R. Williams:
Yeah, I did.

Pat Faudry:
Yeah.  That’s very –

Mrs. R. Williams:
They’re going to carve on my tombstone, “Her first move.”

Betty Tilley:
Well, you said that your grandmother was living with her family down where the main post office is now.  

Mrs. R. Williams:
It was Rayburn goes south.  Third is beyond the post office going south, and that was where the old house was – the cottage was.

Pat Faudry:
I thought it was her family’s home.

[0:07:59.6]

Mrs. R. Williams:
She was – Miss KM.  She never liked her first name.  It was Kazime Vossiem.  So I don't blame her.  She always went as Shanne.  It’s on her tombstone.  Shanne Roots and her husband died fairly young, and he had been in the cotton business – various cotton business and wholesale food business.  

And he had died and left her with a fairly young family.  So she moved with her mother, her sister, Emily, Willie, Betty, uncle, brothers, George and Maynard.  Out here.  Plus I think a cousin and another – and I believe there were two more.
Pat Faudry:
That’s an extended family or whatever?  What do they call it now?

Betty Tilley:
I guess so.

Pat Faudry:
Extended family or something.

Betty Tilley:
Two or three generations.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Well, you see, when I grew up, my grandmother was here.  My _____ her sister was here most of the time.  My aunt and Uncle, George and Mary Roots were here.  Mother, Maddie and me.  So we grew up.
[0:09:03.5]


Although I was an only child, there were enough people to wear out.  And ​​​​my Uncle Minor is the only one of that generation still living, and he lives on Glendale, and he’s about – I guess Minor is somewhere between 85 and 90 and maybe a little older.  
Pat Faudry:
So his name is Minor Roots.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Roots.  R-double O-T-E-S.

Pat Faudry:
Oh.  

Mrs. R. Williams:
Now, you need the whole history of the Roots family, but you probably don't want that.  I can take it back to the first one since we’re interested in geniality.  

Pat Faudry:
Yeah.

Betty Tilley:
Where did your grandmother get her name?

Mrs. R. Williams:
Well, because I was from the bible and _____ was from the midwife that delivered her.

Pat Faudry:
That’s interesting.  I didn’t know if that was all one or –

Mrs. R. Williams:
No, it’s two.  K-E-Z-I-N-A-H.
Pat Faudry:
Yeah, I’ve heard K-E-Z-I-A.

Mrs. R. Williams:
And then _____ was the midwife.

Pat Faudry:
And so she went by –

Mrs. R. Williams:
Shanne.

Pat Faudry:
Shanne.

Mrs. R. Williams:
And my first cousin is named Shanne.  She was born, oh, about a year or so before I was.  So she got to it first.  

Pat Faudry:
You were luckier.

Mrs. R. Williams:
No, I would have loved – I would have loved it – no, no.  

[Crosstalk]

Mrs. R. Williams:
They gave her Shaane.  That’s her given name.  Now I would have loved to have been Shaane.  I don't mind being Sue.  Mother was Sue, and my grandfather’s first wife was Sue, if you would like that little – that’s William M. Roots and his first wife, Sue Taylor, who was the youngest sister.  She died at childbirth that year or so after they were married and then William married Shanne, her older sister.

Pat Faudry:
Oh.

Betty Tilley:
Oh.

Pat Faudry:
Isn’t that something.

Mrs. R. Williams:
So my mother was named for her Aunt Sue and her grandfather’s first wife. [Cut 0:10:41] So she was Sue Roots.  My mother was Sue Roots who married Reed, and I'm Sue Roots Reed Williams.

Pat Faudry:
Yeah.  What about –

[0:10:57.7]


Bringing up in time a little bit, what about the – maybe I shouldn’t go to expressway.  Maybe I’ll hold that.  

Betty Tilley:
Yeah, hold that.

Pat Faudry:
Okay.  

Betty Tilley:
We don't want to talk about anything stressful.

Pat Faudry:
Okay.  Tell us some more about the development, what you remember about it.  And I realize you probably can't, and maybe it’s just what you heard about development of the neighborhood.  I – we talked about the streets being in.


But what about the lights being put out?

Mrs. R. Williams:
The lights, as far as I remember, they’re just where they always were.  I'm not sure that these are the original, but as far as – I don't remember any changes.  These are different from the ones that are in some of the others.  

Pat Faudry:
Stonewall is an older street, but some of the streets around it ___ ____.

Mrs. R. Williams:
I think so.

[Crosstalk]

Mrs. R. Williams:
Yeah because you can tell from the bungalow style.  A lot of them were developed around 19 – after World War I.  There was a big development through here because the – I think the style shows through, and I really don't remember – not paying that much attention, I remember a few changes.  

[0:12:03.8]

I mean, obviously, I remember the streetcar going down Overton Park – the old Number Three that was one of the last ones in Memphis, and I remember where the – well, where the Washteria is now.  It’s changed hands.  That was originally V’s Bakery.
Pat Faudry:
What – Washteria – is that –

Mrs. R. Williams:
Well, there’s a little – where Williamson Alley runs into Overton Park, there’s a little Washteria.  It has been – it has been a cleaner ____ clothes now.  It’s been a series of things, but that was V’s Bakery when I was little.

Pat Faudry:
Oh.

Mrs. R. Williams:
And that – since that was a major place to go – as far as I know, the little Overton Park Drug Store that’s now boarded up and is the Odd Fellows Hall or something.  I don't know.  It’s some sort of a Masonic hall or something.  


That was the Overton Park Drug Store that we all grew up in and read the magazines before you bought them and sat on the floor.  He was –

[0:12:59.7]
Pat Faudry:
Did it have a little –

Mrs. R. Williams:
It had a little –

Pat Faudry:
Soda fountain.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Soda fountain and Mr. Green – Lester Green ran it, and he also owned – well, his brother did.  Downtown on Main, I think around Poplar and Main, something one too.

But the main thing I remember about the little drugstore was that you could call up – and particularly if you were home sick – you could call up and ask them to please send around some magazines.  And the boy would get on the bicycle and bring around four or five magazines and a couple of Hershey bars, and you could stand and pick out, and you would buy one magazine and send the others back.

Pat Faudry:
Oh.

Mrs. R. Williams:
You know, marvelous service when you were home from school and only ____.  And then about – [grandfather clock ringing in background] that’ll go on every 15 minutes.  

[Crosstalk]


It was Paris Drug Store, I'm pretty sure was the other one.

Pat Faudry:
Paris?

Mrs. R. Williams:
And I think it was Paris.  P-A-R-I-S.  Let me check.

[0:13:57.1]


But that was the other sort of big drugstore that you walked up to.
Pat Faudry:
And it was where?

Mrs. R. Williams:
And it was at Evergreen and Poplar where the street has been angled – where there’s been a change in there.  In fact, I think the street goes back through the Poplar where that was, but that used to be a real nice drugstore, the soda fountain and –

Pat Faudry:
Yeah.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Good place to walk when you’d get chocolates and ____.  

Pat Faudry:
Well, I don't guess that Cecil’s was where it is now.  Do you know where did your grandmother or your mother shopped?  Or they probably even had things delivered –

[Crosstalk]

Mrs. R. Williams:
I was going to say we – yeah.  And well, you had people who came around.  The carts with the groceries, fresh greens – green groceries.

Pat Faudry:
During the summer.  Yeah.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Yeah and the people who walked down the street with them on their heads with the tomatoes and cantaloupes and strawberries and all just like opening to Porgy and Bess.  And then the curb market – earlier was not where it is on Crosstown.  As I remember it, it was up near the medical center.

[0:15:00.2]


And I could be wrong, but as I remember, it was up on Madison and near the Goodman house.  Kind of in that general area.  
Pat Faudry:
Miss Brooks said that yesterday.

Mrs. R. Williams:
And – well because I was going to say I knew it was up in there and then it moved over here, and so we shopped a lot at the Curb Market which brought in fresh things during the season and then we shopped up on Jefferson.


There were a couple of good meat – there was a good meat store, and I don't remember the name.  It doesn’t come to me, but it was up on Jefferson uptown because my father and my uncle both worked at Armstrong’s which is at Main – was at Main and Jackson _____ _____.


So she went to the – because I remember the meat market on Jefferson, and then we would come out Jefferson and stop at another place – a couple of places that had cheeses, and I suspect it was Italian because they had marvelous cheeses and good hot peppers and things like that.  We stopped and got those, and I associate that with Jefferson ____. [0:16:02]
[0:16:00.2]

Pat Faudry:
What about – were you part of the – or your grandmother part of the neighborhood association?  

Mrs. R. Williams:
I don't know that we belonged.  I know that there was the Evergreen Club, but as far as I know, I don't remember anybody in the family belonging to it.  The only thing I kind of remember my Aunt Mary belonged to a Dollar Shoe Club which I don't think was – it was a charity sort of thing, and I don't know whether they met in that old Evergreen Club or not.

I have a faint idea that it went in that direction, but I don't remember.  But I don't remember any neighborhood –

Pat Faudry:
Dollar Shoe.

Mrs. R. Williams:
The Dollar Shoe Club.  She went – I thought that was quite fascinating.  I think they, obviously, bought shoes for the children who didn’t have shoes and – but I don't remember any neighborhood association type thing.

[0:17:00.7]


We belonged to the church but –
Pat Faudry:
Yeah.

Mrs. R. Williams:
And I understand ya’ll have a little program at Evergreen tomorrow.

Pat Faudry:
Yeah, tomorrow.  Uh-huh.  Yeah.

Mrs. R. Williams:
We were not charter members of Evergreen.  The only person close to ___ you already talked to Mr. Wood, I know. Annah Lee Early who used to live in this neighborhood and now lives in Surrey Hill Apartments off Highland.  Her parents were charter members of Evergreen.  

Pat Faudry:
Yeah.

Mrs. R. Williams:
We came in early but not that early.

Pat Faudry:
Yeah.  I’ve got to call her again.  She – this week was pretty busy for her, but she’s going to get with us with _____.

Betty Tilley:
She had meetings or bridge or something every day.

Mrs. R. Williams:
She is very –

Betty Tilley:
So busy.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Very busy.  She really is, and she’s very efficient.  So –

[Crosstalk]

Betty Tilley:
She’ll fit us in, I'm sure.

Mrs. R. Williams:
And she has an excellent scrapbooks.

Pat Faudry:
Oh, that’s ____.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Her mother kept everything.  In fact, she turned – we’re doing a thing at Evergreen.

[0:17:58.1]


Asking about the roads, I think we’d have to get permission from the current president of the Women of the Church at Evergreen.  I think it’s Louise Sullivan right now.  But we do have scrapbooks in the library – in the church library, and we do have scrapbooks in the library that show the church as it was being constructed and then walls being built and the roads and –
[Crosstalk]

Betty Tilley:
I told Pat in the little history it said there were scrapbooks in the library.  I said we should really look through and probably some clippings and things.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Yeah and so I can check with Louise and see – you know.  I mean those belong to the Women of the Church.  

Betty Tilley:
They wouldn’t take them out.

Mrs. R. Williams:
And they are not library property.  We are holding them for the Women of the Church.

Betty Tilley:
They’re in trust for the Women of the Church.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Right and so but they’ve got some fascinating pictures of the church – the old church not the one now but the old church which was up here at off of Dickenson that would be really interesting as far as early things because the church was built right at about 1910.  Same time that this opened up.
Pat Faudry:
Yeah.  That would show what it looked like –

Betty Tilley:
Around there.

[0:19:00.4]

Mrs. R. Williams:
Yeah because the same – one of the pictures that I remember, it shows – there’s a retaining wall, and it shows that being built, and the streets don't looked finished and –

Pat Faudry:
Yeah.

Mrs. R. Williams:
But it’s an interesting picture.  Of course, there’s several other churches.  You talk to us and you’ll only think is Everett.

Betty Tilley:
Everett is the first one around here.  So.  

Mrs. R. Williams:
Well, our family like ____ Evergreen belonged to Second and didn’t change their membership for awhile.  They were going – probably going to Evergreen, but they didn’t change membership.  But I’ve never gone to any other church.  See?


I just – just like everything else, I came straight through Evergreen.  I’ve never been anywhere else.  Just always there.  Where did you find some of the things?  Yeah.

Pat Faudry:
Oh, Stonewall Place.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Which was – well, the house next door, 222.

[0:20:00.4]


Mr. Taylor – L. Taylor who had – began federal compresses lived next door.  If you're wondering why we go from 206 to 222 –

Betty Tilley:
Yes.

Mrs. R. Williams:
It’s my understanding that, in those days, if you had your old house number and you wanted to use it, you could.  So these were numbered two parties.  The house on the corner was 200 and 202.  Double ____ and Miss Duke next door was 204, and we’re 206, and then they were 222, and so it kind of bounces along from there.  You get up to 244 pretty fast and –
But he was somebody of right importance, I think, you would say that lived next door.  And you said you talked to Miss Bow.  I think Bertha Landau – I think the Landaus have lived there and her mother died plenty of years ago on the other side of the street.  I suspect they lived – I imagine Bertha has lived there forever too.  And Charlotte Wagner on up the street – the Wagners have left there.

[0:21:03.7]

Probably the only owner.  I don't know.  I was thinking some of them have lived there for a long time.  Might be helpful.

Pat Faudry:

Yeah.

Mrs. R. Williams:
But that was the only one – you know, Mr. Taylor, I thought, was somebody of right interest.

Pat Faudry:
Yeah.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Because federal compresses.

Pat Faudry:
Sure is.

Mrs. R. Williams:
At one time, at least, I guess was the biggest compressing company.

Pat Faudry:
Yeah.  Now this was started after your grandmother was here then.  I mean the house must have been – you're thinking it might have been started after your grandmother’s house – after this house was built.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Oh, I don't know.  That one could have been – it could have been before or after.  I'm not real sure.  And of course, the city directories are a help, but they run a year behind.  So.

Pat Faudry:
And sometimes they aren’t right.

Mrs. R. Williams:
No.  So they’re good indication, but they’re not an absolute guarantee.  And even the deeds are not always – that’s a pretty good way, but even they don't –

[0:21:58.6]


Robert and I worked on – we were doing – well, he was city planner – had done city planning work in Natchez, and we went back to help the one that’s still doing it.  It was his partner, and we went back to do a whole lot of work.  They’re doing a big job in Natchez on the other housing, and we were doing all the research and deed work on them.  And, down there, finding the original date, is pretty hard and – the big houses have been done but the smaller houses.


It’s pretty hard to pinpoint it to a year.  

Pat Faudry:
Oh.  

Mrs. R. Williams:
Even with all you can get on it.

Pat Faudry:
Yeah. [Cut 0:22:30]
Mrs. R. Williams:
But I'm talking to a friend, and she thought of somebody else who’s lived in the area a long time and might be right interesting is Miss Percy Perkins on Forest. 

Pat Faudry:
Yeah.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Had somebody else given you her name?

Pat Faudry:
We talked with her.

Betty Tilley:
She was leaving what?  In April.  

Pat Faudry:
Yeah, she’s – I think she’s gone.

Betty Tilley:
I guess she’s gone.  Of course, you mailed her tickets.

Pat Faudry:
Yes.  

Betty Tilley:
Or money for her tickets rather.

Pat Faudry:
The group that did the Greenlawn area – the Greenlawn Chelsea history that was just completed spoke with her earlier.

[0:22:58.6]


And then gave us the name and said, “Be sure you talk with her soon,” and she was very helpful.  She had some clippings of the Evergreen Club that I – was probably the only thing we had at the time that the community association.  But she’s – yes, you're right.  She was very helpful.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Well and another one, who would not go as far back but I think is interesting, is Theo Cook.  Have you had her name? 

Pat Faudry:
Oh, no.  Nuh-uh.

Mrs. R. Williams:
She lives on up on I guess it’s Forest where Avalon and Johns end.  Anyway, it’s the house with the picket fence, and it’s almost New England looking for this area, and it has – her husband was a captain on the river.  So it has the little light thing out in the yard.
Pat Faudry:
Oh.

Mrs. R. Williams:
And she has a lot of mementoes of Mississippi River through him that I think – since the river has main reason for Memphis.

Pat Faudry:
That’s right.

Mrs. R. Williams:
For the bluffs – the main reason for Memphis, I guess.  

[0:23:59.9]


I think she would be kind of interesting to know some of that.

Pat Faudry:
Yeah, sure.  

Mrs. R. Williams:
Because I think a lot of us rush back to saw when it opened, but then there’s been a lot between then and there.

Pat Faudry:
That’s true.  Yeah.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Things of interest.

Pat Faudry:
Yeah, yeah.  

Mrs. R. Williams:
What else do we need?  What are some of the other things you might like to know?

Betty Tilley:
Suffering from the allergies coming from all the beautiful things blooming, I think.  

Mrs. R. Williams:
Yeah.

Betty Tilley:
I don't know.  People are cutting their yards too.
Mrs. R. Williams:
Uh-huh.  Next door too.  

Betty Tilley:
Apparently it’s – 

Pat Faudry:
I think your comments on the businesses were good.  Can you remember anything else about the – do you remember Mr. Drake being around?  Did you use Mr. Drake and the cleaners?

Mrs. R. Williams:
We – I know he’s been there.  I don't think we used him.  We used the one that came in.  I know, of course, this is much later.  This is like 20 or 30 years ago.

[0:24:58.6]


Because the man was another cleaner that proceeded this one.  Bo’s Laundry.  It was there.  This was in the days when they came and picked up.  I loved the days when people came and picked up, and I came home one day, and he was hanging the curtains in the __ because Momma didn’t feel well.  And everybody did everything for Momma, and so he just came in and was hanging up the curtains.

Pat Faudry:
Oh, nice.  

Mrs. R. Williams:
Well, I would say that the institution in this area that closed not too long ago was We Own the 105.  Now there is a large group of people who consider themselves the elite because we all belonged to We Own the 105, and that was the little one down here at Evergreen and Poplar that closed a few years ago.  They were – that lasted up until now, and he delivered. 

They would bring your groceries in.  If you didn’t feel well, they practically put them in the refrigerator for you.  They were just – you know, they charged.  They would send – if we left town, he would say – it was by appointment store, and he’d say, “Now don't worry.  We’ll look after the mothers,” and they’d order every day.

[0:26:00.3]


Both Robert’s mother and my mother lived here with us.  

Pat Faudry:
Okay.

Mrs. R. Williams:
They had to send up every day a couple of loaves of bread or milk, they’d come around with it, and so it was a shame when they left.  Miss Head– you asked about the grocery.  It was Mrs. Head.  H-E-A-D.  Had a little grocery down here.

And those buildings are gone, and they must have been beyond the filling station.  Had to be because  there was nothing else been torn down.  So they had to be west of the filling station which used to be Mr. Mabe’s – was as early as I remember that.  And Miss Head – Mr. Head had it and then his wife ran it and they had – you know – one of the little groceries that you went in, and you walked up to the counter, and they went and got everything and brought it back to the counter.

You stood there and told them, and they trotted up and down and brought cans back.

Pat Faudry:
Yeah.

Betty Tilley:
Climbed up the ladder and pulled it off the shelves.  

Mrs. R. Williams:
And that was a little family grocery, and I guess that was the closest one.  And that was probably the one we used that sort of came through.  Yeah.

Pat Faudry:
Okay.  

[0:26:59.7]

Ya’ll went to Snowden.

Mrs. R. Williams:
No.  I was – I didn’t.  So I'm not much help.  I was kind of out of it that way.  Everybody else in the neighborhood did.  That was the tradition.  I went to Miss Emma Cook’s which was a small private school that’s under the parking lot at Bellevue Baptist Church now.
Betty Tilley:
We heard about that.

Mrs. R. Williams:
It’s a marvelous – 

Pat Faudry:
I think Lawrence Cohn is the one that told us about –

Mrs. R. Williams:
Well –
[Crosstalk]

Mrs. R. Williams:
See?  I'm not supposed to call her Miss Frances now, but she taught French there as soon as she came out of Vassar.  I think it was – she either went to Vassar or Wellesley.  One of the real fine eastern schools, and she came back and taught French.  And I went to Miss Emma’s at the time.  So we properly said Miss Frances.  

Pat Faudry:
Yeah.

Mrs. R. Williams:
And later on, since then, she has said –

Betty Tilley:
Pointed out to you –

Mrs. R. Williams:
“You can stop calling me Miss Frances now,” and so I have except she really is Miss Frances.  

Pat Faudry:
Yeah.

Mrs. R. Williams:
I can say Frances but –

Pat Faudry:
That’s right.  Miss Em and Miss Etta.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Miss Em and Miss Ella.  

Pat Faudry:
Ella.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Ella.  

[0:27:58.0]


I have a carved chest upstairs that belonged to them and a handkerchief that the family gave me because I went five years by them.  It was a five year school and then they had a postgraduate course.  The only person that I know who was ever a PG was Happy White, and I don't know what happened to him.  But he came back, and he was a postgraduate.  I thought that was rather marvelous.  
Pat Faudry:
Oh, what grades was it?

Mrs. R. Williams:
First through fifth.

Pat Faudry:
One through five.  So then what did you do?

Mrs. R. Williams:
Then I went to a smaller school which was Miss Mussington’s.  Miss – she was on Idlewild between Union, and I don't know what the street beyond Union is.  It’s about – oh, the way the Trousseau and the Snooty Fox – in that area, turn right off of it.  And she had a very tiny little private school.  It was all in one room.


And so she taught from, I presume, about the sixth on.  I don't think there were any young ones – younger than that. [Cut 0:28:55] And there were two – in fact, one of the people I was going to suggest who does not live in the area but who would remember more – a little bit east of here – was Frances Ann Exby who is now Miss Arthur Faquin. 
[0:29:07.2]


Judge Faquin has retired.

Pat Faudry:
Yeah.

Mrs. R. Williams:
And they now live on Yates, but she lived on Angeles.

Pat Faudry:
Now what was her name again?

Mrs. R. Williams:
Maiden name was Frances Ann – without an E – Exby.  E-X-B-Y.  And her father was a lawyer, and she married Arthur Faquin.  But Frances Ann and Lela Jean Cox who has moved away and Louise Wilburn whose family lived on Oak – well, Angeles and Overton Park over in Avalon and then did live in this house over here on Poplar for awhile and is married to James Cohn.

Anyway, all of us went together for Miss Emma’s – well, they came in about the third or the fourth grade, and we went to school together.  Miss Emma’s and then we went to Miss Mussington’s and then some of us went to Central.

[0:30:00.4]


I went to Central, and Frances and Louise went to Miss Hutchison.  So I missed the Snowden.  

Pat Faudry:
You missed the Snowden group.  Yeah.  Huh.

Mrs. R. Williams:
But Miss Emma’s is another little group.  Jack Kelly – the Kellys live up the street.  Jack and Thomas Kelly.  Old Cheryl Wagner down the street went to Miss Emma’s.  We keep talking about having a reunion.  There were just the two old maid school teachers, and they lived in the house.


The schoolroom is two room schoolroom, pot bellied stove in each room.  Classes up the front and they’d heard the classes out loud when you sat back here.  It was remarkable.  You learn English literature, Shakespeare, French.  I kind of coast through school on what I got in Miss Emma’s.

Pat Faudry:
Huh.  

Mrs. R. Williams:
It was quite a lot, and it was at the corner of Jefferson and Bellevue.  It was on Jefferson.  

Pat Faudry:
Yeah.

Betty Tilley:

And how did you get to school?

[0:30:59.4]

Mrs. R. Williams:
Oh, I got taken in a car – in a Pontiac with the running board when my father would go to work, and then I wanted to stay and play until he came home, but usually, Momma _____.

Pat Faudry:
Didn’t work too well.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Doesn’t work now but we loved – you know, we had so many things going.  And she had things that happened during the year.  I mean each certain days were events.

One day you could climb the Magnolia tree.  You couldn’t climb the tree until that day.  One day you could climb the monkey tree.  Until that day, you couldn’t do that.  And you had all sorts of games that came, and then one day, because the girls liked this, the boys did care much about it, but on a certain day, all the bricks were ____.

[Crosstalk]

We were a two car family because my uncle had a car, and my mother and daddy had a car.
Pat Faudry:
Yeah.

Mrs. R. Williams:
And I believe my uncle had a Buick with the radiator thing on the top that showed the heat, you know, or something.

Pat Faudry:
Oh, yeah.

Mrs. R. Williams:
It was a bigger, touring car, and we had a Pontiac.  We always had Pontiacs.  We still have Pontiacs.

[0:31:59.5]

Pat Faudry:
But your dad would drive to town.  

Mrs. R. Williams:
Mother would drive him and leave him and keep the car.

Pat Faudry:

Oh, oh.

Mrs. R. Williams:
And then she went up in the afternoon and picked him up, and I would ride up with her.  We’d played in the ____ which was nice.  

Pat Faudry:
Yeah.  Had more big rooms of furniture _____.  

Mrs. R. Williams:
So and eventually, they could – they rode the bus.  _____ _____. 

Pat Faudry:
Oh.

Pat Faudry:
They would take them to work and pick up.  

Mrs. R. Williams:
In fact, I used to do that with Robert sometimes, and I still like it to drive into town.  We’ve always been a one car family since Robert and I married.  It ____ ____ for having two cars, and we still ride the bus.  


He takes the bus although he’s retired.  He has his own office  now in the exchange building.  So he takes the bus down, and if I'm going down to meet him, I take the bus to meet him.

Pat Faudry:

Oh.

Mrs. R. Williams:
It seems kind of citified to take the bus down here.

Pat Faudry:

Well, yes.

[0:32:56.9]

Betty Tilley:

So – you're so lucky to be close to one.  I’d love to take the bus.

Mrs. R. Williams:
It’s sort of fun.  If you're in the car, you look at all the poor people on the side.  If you take the bus, you stand there and sneer at all those single people riding those large cars and ____.

Pat Faudry:
Depends on where you.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Right.  I mean I'm perfectly capable of taking either ______.

Pat Faudry:
Tell me about what MMI is doing now?  What is your perception of the directions they’re going and what some of the concerns are?

Mrs. R. Williams:
Well, I have not served.  I have not been to a meeting in about two years because they hit the wrong time.  I was on the board early, and Robert has been on their long range planning committee there for some time.  And that’s why I was a little surprised when Bena, I think, said that they had – did not have any long range plans.  They had lost them – because Robert had done – they had survey.  


He has done it with every house marked on it, the zoning, the perspective thing –

Pat Faudry:
Maura has a box full of stuff of the survey and story.

Mrs. R. Williams:
No, this was a planning survey just as he has done for city plans.  I mean it’s a thing of value.  The Central Gardens paid $20,000.00 for one which Robert was giving them, basically, this kind of information for free which is why I'm sure –

[0:34:09.3]


If in fact they have lost it is why they lost it.

Pat Faudry:
We don't think it’s lost.  We just think nobody’s bothered to – well –

Mrs. R. Williams:
The only place that I know it might be – now the Bradviews – have you –

Pat Faudry:
I’ve heard the name.  

Mrs. R. Williams:
All right.  Well, this – that’s out of Stonewall, and I don't know the house number, but it’s almost at Overton Park.  And she was Jean Jones, and they lived on Angeles in one of the houses that’s been taken for the expressway.

Pat Faudry:
That’s where they name came –

Mrs. R. Williams:
Her father was, I think, part of Beasley Brothers, Jones and Riley.  I think he was that Jones.  And they have been real active in that, and I think the Bradviews have those.  I mean, you know, they’re huge maps like so with all the houses, all the current zoning, the perspective or anticipated plans for zoning, that sort of thing.  That was all there. [Cut 0:34:59]
[0:34:58.6]


So there was some planning at one time.  Now, as I say, I have not – the meetings have hit at just inopportune times, and we haven’t gone to the general meeting.  So, when Miss Goodman was the head of it, she was personally extremely active.

Pat Faudry:
Too active, right?  That’s why she moved out.  

Mrs. R. Williams:
You’ve got the tape on, and I'm not going to say.

Pat Faudry:
That’s right.  I forgot.  Sorry.  I’ll keep quite.  Just an old story, isn’t it?

Mrs. R. Williams:
As long as I'm on the record – well, I do think any kind – anybody is extremely active, it’s quite likely that other people will become less active than – she was helped lead the way – 
Betty Tilley:
I think that’s a standard problem in neighborhood clubs is that you’re gonna –

Pat Faudry:
Leader who does things rather than have ____ doesn’t seem to be able to have committees to do things but that – 

Mrs. R. Williams:
Sort of –

Pat Faudry:
That’s sort of their career them.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Yeah.  Well and –

[0:36:01.8]

Pat Faudry:
And even if they pull out then things really fall in around them.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Well and this particular group – I'm sure you’ve already heard.  You talked to Miss Bow – was formed as a fight against McDonalds on the corner which I think was a very reasonable thing to ban together.  


McDonalds wanted to buy the house that is currently owned by the Wilburns down here on the southeast corner of Stonewall and Poplar.

Pat Faudry:
That big, tall roof?

Mrs. R. Williams:
Uh-huh.

Pat Faudry:
Oh.

Mrs. R. Williams:
And the neighborhood just really felt that was totally out of key – being totally unnecessary.  We’ve got enough fast food restaurants up and down.  They are coming and going to –

Pat Faudry:
I was going to say –

Mrs. R. Williams:
Feed half of Memphis and half of them – I mean they’re in and out, and then they leave as this thing that has been Arby’s and Friar Tuck, and it leaves and empty building.

[0:36:58.8]


Well, this antique ___ on Union’s a perfect example of that sort of nonsense.  

Pat Faudry:
They’re on Park and some are all over those deserted places.

Mrs. R. Williams:
And there’s no law that says, when they come in and tear down and leave their building, there’s no law that says they have to put anything back.  I mean they’re not responsible for what mess they leave.  I mean the law does not go forward, but I think that it’s unfortunate that they can come in and destroy something and then walk out and leave it, and the neighborhood has to face the result.
Pat Faudry:
That’s right.

Mrs. R. Williams:
They don't.  I mean they’ve milked it and gone.  But at any rate, that was what the group was formed for.

Betty Tilley:
And when was that?  About ten years ago?  Was it that much?

Mrs. R. Williams:
Well, it could have been.  I mean time kind of flips along, but we – but Miss Bow and Miss – well, Charlotte Wagner, Miss Landau, all – 

[0:38:03.5]


Everybody was running up and down the street with petitions, and we got all the names and went down and fought city hall and won which gave us a sense of, “Hurray, look what we did.”  And –
Pat Faudry:
Now this was mostly Stonewall residents.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Well, that was – as far as I knew, I mean we were one of the first to start because it was right close, but that does not mean it was just us because the people on – along Willette, Clark –

Pat Faudry:
On the south side of Poplar.  

Mrs. R. Williams:
_____ down here didn’t want it.  Some did.  I mean not every – I mean, obviously, not everybody disliked the idea because some of the people felt, well, if that went commercial – well, I don't think Miss Duke – in fact, I'm almost sure Miss Duke was not opposed to it because she owns the property next door and to the corner which, if the corners went commercial, her property would be more valuable.  So, I mean, she was not – I don't believe she was opposed it.


I don't want – I don't think that as – it’s my recollection that she was not on the list opposing it.

[0:39:01.7]


But the – all the people in the apartments really, instead of being in favor of having something to eat close, were very much opposed to it from the traffic and the noise and the litter.

Pat Faudry:
Uh-huh.

Mrs. R. Williams:
I think the litter is one of them. 

Pat Faudry:
It’s probably the major concern.

Mrs. R. Williams:
I mean we’re litterers.  I can tell who’s got a special by what we pick up off the front yard or the backyard any day because  they drive in them, eat and pitch them at the first – as soon as their through.  We’re about at the finishing place of the Crystal and the ones down here.  It’s ridiculous.  


But after that, we just kind of stayed together because we realized that this sort of thing was happening, and that it took that kind of joint effort to go in.  And it kind of grew from that to preserve the residential.  


I'm rambling.  Your question was what do I see as direction.  I'm not sure what its direction is now, but its original direction was to preserve the residential quality of the area.

[0:39:59.4]

Pat Faudry:
Uh-huh, uh-huh.

Mrs. R. Williams:
And to fight any further encroachment.  The expressway, which you mentioned, was kind of a split problem.  Eventually, the MMI took a stand against the expressway.  I mean not everybody in the neighborhood was opposed to the expressway.  You don't have 100 percent opinion on anything.  I’ve been known to disagree with myself.


So it eventually did go and fight against the expressway, but I think the main thing that – well, certainly, that Robert felt and I agreed with him on Sunday was that we had to – we should make plans if it went through or plans if –


I mean you should have contingencies either way.  I mean you had to – how to best, if the expressway goes through, then how to should the group join together to limit the commercial that would come in with expressway.

[0:41:02.3]


Any off ramps going to go commercial and have tremendous pressures, then how do you hold?  You see?  If the expressway  and the off ramp comes through, it cuts this into four sections.  Goes right through and then the cross section, if it comes in at Avalon or – which is where it is.  


At one point, the early plan showed an off ramp coming right through Stonewall, but  then it moved down to Avalon.  So that that would be it, and that’s why  they tore out that many houses on it.  But then, it seems to me, that the neighborhood then has to come together and face this problem and say, “Will we hold that just this much will be commercial and fight beyond that?”  


That you will accept this much commercial and this much semi and then say, “That much and no more,” and go up and fight on those basis.  Now whether they really got that far or not, I don't know. [Cut 0:41:53] I think most of the thinking has been, “No, we’re not going to have it.”

Pat Faudry:
Yeah.  Uh-huh.  I think you're right.  I think they  have not considered the possibility that it might come through.

[0:42:01.6]

Mrs. R. Williams:
Well, I personally feel that, certainly, you fight for something you want, but it’s rather nice to have a contingency.

Pat Faudry:
Right.

Mrs. R. Williams:
And not be – because then you will really – because, if the expressway goes through, if they think they have seen any pressure for commercial we’ve seen nothing compared to what will be then.  I mean that’s when you’ve got the big money and the big ones coming in.

Betty Tilley:
Of course, it takes years, if they start, it will takes years from beginning to end.  So you would have time then to –
Mrs. R. Williams:
Retool and go.  

Betty Tilley:
Of course, you build commercial things a lot quicker than you can build the expressway I suppose.

Mrs. R. Williams:
If the word is ever given that, yes, it’s going, and that’s where it’s going to be, that’s when the pressure’s going to be on.  And if it’s contained, it could be contained in a strip, but if it starts, people buying a piece of property over here because it’s close and little bits of commercial pumping in and out, then you’ve got just a real problem.

Pat Faudry:
And the city doesn’t have too good a record for enforcing zoning restrictions either, does it?

[0:43:00.9]

Mrs. R. Williams:
Not as long as it’s got three different organizations during the zoning.  We’ve got the city council, the board of adjustment and something else, and so, no, it doesn’t have very good ____.


It’s about par with the city’s ___ and there’s some that ____.  

Pat Faudry:
In some ways, that might be better because you spend a lot of time and money in saying – you get the same end results.

Mrs. R. Williams:
That’s if you know at the front end that – I mean I think – this is in Houston, you know at the front end that a filling station could go next door.  At least you know that when you buy.


Here, you're under the assumption that you're in a residential area.  Our house is not zoned residential.  I mean it’s not R1.  We R2 or three.  It’s – which nobody remembers.  Mother didn’t remember.  Apparently, some day, they just went down Poplar and jiggled a higher density rating all the way on both sides of Poplar as far –

[0:44:00.9]




If mother was every notified, she didn’t remember.

Pat Faudry:
No, there wasn’t.  Probably, somebody wanted to change it, and they very quietly inserted a notice on page 52 of the Sunday want ads or something like that.
Mrs. R. Williams:
Uh-huh and all the sudden, it’s there and it’s not in a straight line.  It’s kind of jiggly.

Pat Faudry:
The meeting went to MMIA, they said they were working on down zoning, and apparently, that’s pretty clear they’ll get that through.  They seem ____.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Well, that’s one of the best – yeah.  Because – well, one of the problems – of course, this could happen – I always hate to say.  I'm so positive, but they’ve put some of these arc apartments back here on Willette.  Which are – like the little motel rows and rows.


And tiny little two year old blonde crawled up on our porch screen yesterday afternoon .  I mean I would say she’s between two and three.  She either was too young to talk or too tired.  At least, we couldn’t get anything out of her.  So the kids next door and across the street were coming through.

[0:44:58.2]


And I said, “Ya’ll talk to her.”  Maybe she might be frightened of me.  Well, we decided she probably – the general consensus was she probably is from the apartments across the park, but you know, you can't just go banging on people’s doors really, and yet you could leave this.


So I had gone around and banged on a few doors around trying to see if anybody had company that might have a child wandered away.  Nobody had looked for the little – you know.  I scared some lady walking – we’re looking for a little child, and she kept going down the street looking back.

[Crosstalk]

Pat Faudry:
That lady’s weird.
Mrs. R. Williams:
Yeah.  So, finally, Lisa Fona got up to say she knew where she lived.  She said, “Do you know where you live?  Do you live in the apartments across the park?”  Uh-huh.  Well, she finally said, yes, she wanted to go home.

Well, she went home being only this tall.  She went.  So we had we to crawl under all the bushes because I thought we should follow her, and she’s going under everything nicely.  You know?  While we’re down there. 
And we got over to the park, and she wanted to play on the swings and then she wanted to play on the roundabout thing, and there was a little boy there.

[0:45:58.2]

So we said – I said, “Do you know this little girl?”  And he says, “Uh-huh.  She’s Maryanne.”  Lisa said, “Are you her brother?”  Uh-huh.  And I said, “She was lost.  She was lost.”  I said, “Do you know where you live?”  “Uh-huh, number five.”  Said, “Okay.”

So I went over, tapped on the number five, “Oh,” she said, “She was lost.”  Then the man said, “I told you she was too young to be out there by herself.”  She said, “But she wasn’t.  He was with her,” and here’s another little that looked three.  You know?

Pat Faudry:

Yeah.

Mrs. R. Williams:
I mean not to say this couldn’t happen in a house, but they ___ and there’s  sense of security that these kids are all right when the kids aren’t all right. [Cut 0:46:39] The feeling is, well, there are a lot of people out there, and this is fine.  

But she had crossed that alley over there and had come this far.  She could easily have gone right on down Stonewall and into Poplar which kind of bothers me, but sort of old fashioned about these certain things.  Anyway, I do think that – 

[0:46:58.6]


Well, I mean high density just does bring some problems, and I think the lower density would keep a lot of livability.  

[Tape is stopped and then restarts]

Pat Faudry:
End of World War II when new suburbs began to be built, did – have many people moved into the area?  Have young families moved in, or do you feel that the neighborhood – has it just gotten older?  As people move out, with the new areas opening up –

Mrs. R. Williams:
I think both have happened.  I think from, say, World War II, it probably was opening.  There was still areas being built up in here.  There was still lots probably that were opening up.  And by then, you had what were then young families because you had people came back from the war raising families and children.  


So it wasn’t that old a neighborhood although it was an established neighborhood.  You had a lot of ____.

[0:47:59.2]


And then,  as they got older and began to move, well, of course, we had an exodus to the east then as everybody did, but I would say, in the last – certainly in the last five to ten years, it’s been coming back because almost everybody that I know that I met that’s moved in there, it has been younger looking for the size houses.  You just get more floor space, better _____.

Plus, a lot of people just prefer to be in.  Now, as a lot of businesses move back east, as – unless downtown revives as a business center – I mean businesses keep moving east.  Then I think it’s a possibility of another turnaround as mobile as most families are.

Pat Faudry:
Uh-huh.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Certainly, if gasoline does go – and I'm one of the ones that thinks it’s quite likely that we get – we’re going to have a shortage.  People are not going to want to drive.

[0:48:55.9]


Just as they once – they were driving east to downtown, now if the buildings go out between here and Millington, they’re not going to want to drive to Millington.  So then there’ll be another jump backwards possibly, but I think the neighborhood has certainly grown older.  But there’s a lot of people just didn’t move.

You couldn’t find anything that you didn’t – that was better than what you had here.  I think the people that I know of, that would displaced for the expressway, most of the older ones went into apartments and then the younger ones did move probably out east as much as any place else.  


That reminds me.  Mr. Emmons had a little filling station on Overton Park, and he was one of the first ones to fuss about the expressway.  Mr. Emmons was taking surveys and trying to show how many people were going into apartment and how much the city was going to lose.  He was adamant about it, and that’s at least 20 years ago.

Pat Faudry:
Good grief.

Mrs. R. Williams:
I mean he was much upset about it back then.

Pat Faudry:
He is still around?

Mrs. R. Williams:
No, he’s died, and the son had gone off to work for Dodge or one of the big companies.

Pat Faudry:
Oh.  

[0:49:57.7]

Mrs. R. Williams:
It’s where, since he left, it’s been a series of car repair shops and one thing and another.  And ___ There’s something down there now that’s like a foreign car repair or something.

Pat Faudry:
There is.

Mrs. R. Williams:
____ in Overton Park.

Pat Faudry:
Oh,  okay. 

Mrs. R. Williams:
But he used to – there were probably letters to the editor back in those days.  He really was very concerned about it way then.

Pat Faudry:
Okay.  That’d be interesting to trace.

Mrs. R. Williams:
Don't have the dates well enough to help you on that.  Somebody else might.  

Pat Faudry:
Well, I'm sure the clippings –  

Mrs. R. Williams:
Next door would be the little fine ____ ____.  And they were alternated down at the top terrace and then there were elms along the bottom terrace which, of course, they’ve just been done in.  So there has always been a – from the time they matured – a double row of trees, and a lot of people have planted on that second terrace to kind of replace the trees, but it’s not apparent that there still –

[0:50:58.6]


There’s still an – you know, there’s an elm here and there along the way.  They’ve just been lost in the big trees.

Pat Faudry:
Oh, yeah.

Mrs. R. Williams:
______.
[End of Audio]
www.verbalink.com

Page 16 of 34

